

Digital Commons @ George Fox University

Doctor of Psychology (PsyD)

Theses and Dissertations

6-22-2022

Emotional CPR (Connect, Partner Respond): Outcome Evaluation of a School-Based Intervention for Child and Adolescent Suicidality

Elisabeth Wise

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.georgefox.edu/psyd

Part of the Psychology Commons

Emotional CPR (Connect, Partner Respond): Outcome Evaluation of a School-Based

Intervention for Child and Adolescent Suicidality

Elisabeth Wise

Presented to the Faculty of the

Graduate School of Clinical Psychology

George Fox University

in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Psychology

in Clinical Psychology

Newberg, Oregon

Approval Page

Emotional CPR (Connect, Partner Respond): Outcome Evaluation of a School-Based

Intervention for Child and Adolescent Suicidality

by

Elisabeth Wise

has been approved

at the

Graduate School of Clinical Psychology

George Fox University

as a Dissertation for the PsyD Degree

Committee Members

Dr. Celeste Jones, Psy.D, ABCCAP, Chair

Dr. Jeri Turgesen, Psy.D MSCP, ABPP, Member

Dr. Kristi Knows His Gun, Psy.D, ABPP, Member

June 22, 2022

Abstract

Introduction. The aim of this study was to assess the efficacy of a universal, school-based program (Emotionally- Connect, Partner, Respond [E-CPR]) that seeks to improve adolescent attitude, confidence in ability to respond to a peer in crisis and ability to identify adequate crisis intervention skills. Methods. E-CPR includes a didactic portion with emphasis on knowledge and attitudinal components and role play activities to enhance skill-building. To test the effectiveness of E-CPR a comparison group was gathered using an online survey platform. **Results.** There was a significant difference in pre-test to post-test scores for the participants such that attending E-CPR increased participants likelihood to endorse confidence in their ability to respond to a peer in crisis, endorse adequate crisis intervention skills, and increased comfort seeking resources for a peer in crisis. Compared to the control group, youth who received E-CPR training were not found to differ significantly in their confidence in ability to respond to a peer in crisis. The intervention group of school leader scored significantly higher on perceived competence and comfort accessing an adult or resource compared to the general high school population. Conclusion. E-CPR is an effective intervention to improve student-leader support towards peers experiencing emotional health crisis including suicide risk. However, compared to the general high-school student control group, the intervention group of student leaders in this study had increased competence and resource-seeking comfort at the outset, but similar confidence ratings. Future studies are required to explore generalizability to a more universal high school.

Keywords: adolescent suicide, E-CPR, universal school-based intervention

Table of Contents

<u>Approval Page</u> ii
Abstractiii
Table of Tables
Chapter 1
Universal School-Based Suicide Prevention
School Based Interventions and Efficacy
Common Components of Universal School-Based Suicide Prevention Programs
E-CPR Intervention
Current Study7
Chapter 2
Methods
Participants
Materials
Procedure
<u>Chapter 3</u>
<u>Results</u>
Descriptive Statistics
Hypothesis 1- Participant Confidence Pre- to Post-Intervention
Hypothesis 2- Participant Competence Pre- to Post-Intervention
Hypothesis 3- Participant Resource-Seeking Pre- to Post-Intervention
Hypothesis 4- Intervention Group vs. Controls 14
Mann-Whitney U Test

OUTCOME EVALUATION OF E-CPR PROGRAM

Chapter 4	16
Discussion	16
Limitations and Future Research	
Conclusion.	
References	22
Appendix A: Pre Test	
Appendix B: Post Test	
Appendix C: Parental Consent	
Appendix D: Student Assent	33

Table of Tables

<u>Table 1: Age Demographic Data for Intervention and Comparison Group</u>
Table 2: Gender Demographic Data for Intervention and Comparison Group
Table 3: Year in School Demographic Data for Intervention and Comparison Group
Table 4: Race and Ethnicity Demographic Data for Intervention and Comparison Group 10
Table 5: Descriptive statistics
Table 6: Confidence in Ability to Respond Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test Results
Table 7: Competence in Adequate Crisis Intervention Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test Results 14
Table 8: Resource-Seeking Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test Results
Table 9: Confidence in Ability to Respond Mann-Whitney U Test Results
Table 10: Competence in Adequate Crisis Intervention Mann-Whitney U Test Results
Table 11: Resource-Seeking Mann-Whitney U Test Results

Emotional CPR (Connect, Partner Respond): Outcome Evaluation of a School-Based Intervention for Child and Adolescent Suicidality

Chapter 1

Suicide is an enormous public health problem, and is currently the second leading cause of death among young people ages 10-24 years (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021; Curtin & Heron, 2019). The World Health Organization estimates that approximately one million people die by suicide each year. In the United States, estimates suggest that approximately 47,173 people die by suicide annually (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017), around 6,200 of those being children and adolescents between the ages of 10 and 19 years. As alarming as these numbers are, completed youth suicides are only part of the problem. For every youth who dies by suicide, 100–200 youth make a suicide attempt or experience suicidal ideation (Drapeau & McIntosh, 2018). Furthermore, approximately 1 out of 7 high school students engage in severe suicidal ideation, 1 in 10 make a suicidal plan, and 1 in 14 make a suicide attempt that will require medical care (Labuhn et al., 2021; Miller et al., 2010). The psychological, emotional, social, and medical costs of suicidal behavior and emotional distress are devastating for individuals, communities, and families (Labuhn et al., 2021; Price & Khubchandani, 2021; Singer et al., 2018)

Concerning these dire statistics, there is a crucial need to address suicidality among young people. Research suggests that 42%–66% of youth who die by suicide appear to have been experiencing some form of a depressive disorder at the time of their death (Holland et al., 2016; Miller et al., 2010). Noting that hopelessness is a common variable in suicide (Posamentier et al., 2022), addressing emotional and behavioral signs of a crisis is an important part of youth suicide prevention efforts. However, youth are often reluctant to get help for suicidal thoughts or behaviors (Cigularov et al., 2008; Radez, 2020). Suicidal thoughts and other behaviors are common barriers to support in children and adolescents (Calear et al., 2014; Labuhn et al., 2021; Miller et al., 2010). Specifically, most suicidal adolescents experience distorted thinking patterns, including difficulty problem-solving, perceiving suicide as the only option (Burke et al., 2015; Capuzzi, 1994). Further, suicidal adolescents report feeling low self-worth, guilt, difficulty communicating emotions, and perceived burdensomeness, all of which prevent help-seeking (Berman, 2009; Labuhn et al., 2021). Usually connected with low self-worth, guilt experienced by suicidal adolescents can contribute to a feeling of needing to be punished. This serves as a motivation for suicide, preventing youth from feeling worthy of help (Capuzzi, 1994; Miller et al., 2010). In addition, suicidality in youth is linked to difficulty with emotional expression, communicating to others that something is wrong (Berman et al., 2006; Labuhn et al., 2021). Perceived burdensomeness in youth involves feeling useless to family or friends or feeling expendable and ineffective, with the distorted thought that their death is worth more than their life (Miller et al., 2010).

Unfortunately, strong evidence suggests that inability to talk to adults and lack of closeness with school adults prevents suicidal adolescents from seeking adult support (Cigularov et al., 2008; Joshi et al., 2015; Loon et al., 2020). In addition, many adolescents are reluctant to seek help from a professional (Michelmore & Hindley, 2012; Stuckey et al., 2021), being intimidated by professional support and viewing consultation with mental health experts as a last resort. When seeking out support, adolescents prefer turning to friends for help, with three in four young people reporting they would first turn to a friend for help if they were considering

suicide (Michelmore & Hindley, 2012; Stuckey et al., 2021). Thousands of people who die by suicide in the United States are not seen in a mental health setting, but often come into contact with people before and right to their death (Miller et al., 2010; Wilcox &Wyman, 2016). Helping people recognize the warning signs and how to assist a person in getting help is a vital intervention point for preventing suicide (Joiner et al., 2009; Price & Khubchandani, 2021; Van Order et al., 2010). However, youth peers are often ill-equipped to recognize or provide adequate support for a friend in a mental health crisis. Barriers that youth peers of suicidal children and adolescents experience are: (a) fear of making the wrong judgment about their friend, (b) lack of approachability of school adult, (c) fear of friend's hospitalization, and (d) underestimating their friend's problems (Cigularov et al., 2008; Mason et al., 2015; Radez, 2020). Conversely, peers that are equipped with the skills and knowledge to recognize warning signs and support finding appropriate help for their friends are invaluable, providing an opportunity for early detection and intervention when an adolescent is at risk of suicide.

As a population-based health issue, the broadest and most effective dissemination of this preparedness training is likely through universal school-based programming (Loon et al., 2020; Miller et al., 2009; Wilcox & Wyman, 2016). The purpose of the following study is to examine the use of a universal school-based crisis intervention and suicide prevention program for adolescents (Emotionally Connect, Partner, Respond [E-CPR]) as a useful intervention to improve peer support towards adolescents at risk of suicide. The following is a review of the literature that examines universal school-based interventions and curriculum.

Universal School-Based Suicide Prevention

Studies suggest that effective school-wide suicide prevention incorporates several levels of intervention: (a) indicated programs, designed for students already displaying suicidal behavior, (b) selective interventions, targeting those identified as being at risk of suicide and (c) universal programs, designed to reach an entire school population without needing to discern which individuals are at elevated risk (Miller et al., 2010; Posamentier et al., 2022). This study focuses on the third level, universal school-based suicide prevention programs which are presented to all students, regardless of the level of risk, to enhance positive factors and reduce risk factors (Miller et al., 2009; O'Connor et al., 2018). Universal approaches operate with an understanding that the conditions that contribute to youth suicide go unrecognized and untreated. By educating students and staff about the appropriate response, the goal is to increase better help-seeking for treatment and support. Universal approaches attempt to reach the highest number of students and staff possible and include providing information and education on youth suicide, mental health knowledge and promote a positive attitude towards mental and emotional health to both youth and staff (Klimes-Dougan et al., 2012; Miller et al., 2010; O'Connor et al., 2018).

Use of universal programming shows strong evidence for effectiveness over selective approaches in school settings specifically (Hart et al., 2019). Research suggests that this may be due to higher levels of engagement from youth with a population-based program as adolescents appear reluctant to accept screening or interventions from trained staff and are more amenable to a program received by all students (Posamentier et al., 2022; Wasserman et al., 2015). One final advantage of universal program designs includes the ability to implement the programs more efficiently. Universal programs are an essential component of school-based suicide prevention in that they provide an entire student population with intervention and encourage responsiveness from students.

School Based Interventions and Efficacy

Schools provide an ideal setting in which to implement universal suicide prevention efforts, providing broad access to adolescents, having existing educational routines, and being a place of frequent peer interaction for adolescents (Berman et al., 2006; Kalafat & Elias, 1994; Posamentier et al., 2022). According to the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Association, an educational initiative that increases awareness of suicide can play a significant role in reducing the risk of suicide (Center for Mental Health Services, 2015). In addition, research shows that adolescents are willing to learn how to support their peers regarding suicide prevention and mental health (Cigularov et al., 2008; Kalkbrenner, & Goodman-Scott, 2021). Further, students who reported an ability to recognize signs of mental health disorders or suicide crisis were 3-4 times more likely to take a helping action than those who did not recognize signs of suicide and mental health disorder (Kalkbrenner, & Goodman-Scott, 2021; Olsson & Kennedy, 2010). Still, another study examining the use of a school-based universal program reported that after engaging in a universal program, youth were more likely to contact an adult with concerns for a peer's suicidal behavior (Miller et al., 2010; Posamentier et al., 2021; Singer et al., 2018).

Common Components of Universal School-Based Suicide Prevention Programs

In the past 15 years, high school curricula have incorporated several diverse approaches to suicide prevention (Aseltine & DeMartino, 2004; Robinson et al., 2012) Although an increasing number of studies examining the effectiveness of school-based suicide prevention

5

programs are available overall, they remain relatively few, and there is still a great deal to be understood about the effectiveness of school-based interventions (Cusimano & Sameem, 2011; King, & Fazel, 2021; Miller et al., 2010). Research suggests that effective school-based programs do the following: (a) raise awareness of suicide intervention (including pertinent demographics, information about suicide, dispelling common myths, various risk factors that increase the likelihood of suicide, warning signs, and protective factors that decrease the probability of suicidal behaviors (Hart et. al, 2019; Miller et al., 2010), (b) teach appropriate peer responses and problem-solving skills, and (c) promote social and school connectedness, providing information to students about school and community resources for getting help (Miller et al., 2010; O'Connor et al., 2018; Posamentier et al., 2022. Evidence suggests that successful programs also provide youth with the skills to take specific actions in responding to the signs of suicide once recognized. Resource identification is particularly important as it makes helpseeking behavior appear more normative. The goal of most curricula is to help youth connect with a responsible adult and appropriate resources.

In each of these domains, effective programs engage not just knowledge, but also attitudes. Mental health literacy includes the "knowledge and beliefs about mental disorders which aid their recognition, management or prevention" (Jorm et al., 2016 p.4; Patafio et al., 2021). Mental health literacy includes the ability to recognize specific disorders, risk factors, and how to seek out information about mental health. While increasing adolescent mental health literacy is essential, strong mental health literacy does not necessarily translate into less negative attitudes toward individuals who die by suicide or to less judgment of one's suicidal thoughts and behaviors (Batterham et al., 2012). In this way, it is not sufficient to provide knowledge alone. Programs are more likely to be successful at increasing students' help-seeking behavior for themselves or others if they include knowledge and attitudinal components, building in an attitude that engages with professional treatment or suitable options for self-help and an awareness of where to go for resources (Hart et al., 2016). In fact, evidence suggests that schoolbased suicide prevention programs are effective in improving both student knowledge and attitudes toward suicide (Calear et al., 2014; Cusimano & Sameem, 2011; Posamentier et al., 2022. Further, this research provides evidence to suggest that enhancing adolescent knowledge of and attitudes toward suicide (reducing mental health stigma) facilitate help-seeking behavior.

E-CPR Intervention

E-CPR is a universal school-based suicide intervention 90-minute workshop that aims to increase knowledge and improve attitudes toward adolescent mental health crises. The workshop includes knowledge and attitudinal components including building suicide awareness, recognizing warning signs of suicide, identifying barriers to support-seeking, skills and steps to initiating conversation with a peer in crisis, being an ally and meaningful listener, how to connect a peer in crisis with an adult, resource identification, and role clarification/maintenance of boundaries. The workshop includes role play activities to enhance skill-building, allowing students the opportunity to practice and apply newly acquired skills.

Current Study

The current study aims to explore the effectiveness of E-CPR in improving confidence in ability to respond to a peer in crisis, ability to identify adequate crisis intervention responses, and increasing comfort accessing an adult or other appropriate resource for peers who are struggling. Hypothesis 1: Participant scores on post-test data will increase in comparison to their pretest scores in likelihood to endorse confidence in ability to respond to a peer in crisis.

Hypothesis 2: Participant scores on post-test data will increase in comparison to their pretest scores in likelihood to endorse adequate crisis intervention responses.

Hypothesis 3: Participant scores on post-test data will increase in comparison to their pretest scores in likelihood to endorse comfort accessing an adult or resource for peers who are struggling.

Hypothesis 4: It is hypothesized that the pre-test scores of the student leader recipients of E-CPR will not be significantly different from those of a general high school population.

Chapter 2

Methods

Participants

Participants in the intervention group consisted of 287 high school student council leaders, between the ages of 14–18 years. Regarding age, the experimental group average age was 15.61 years (SD = 1.37). For the comparison group, the final sample included 220 participants with the average age of 16.79 years (SD = 1.02; see Table 1). The gender distribution of the intervention group was 84 males (29.4%), 196 females (68.5%), and two transgender individuals (0.7%). The comparison group consisted of 47 males (21.4%), 162 females (73.6%) and 11 transgender individuals (5.0%; see Table 2). In regard to year in school, the intervention group was composed of 36 freshmen (12.6%), 85 sophomores (29.7%), 88 juniors (30.8%), and 73 seniors (25.5%). Comparatively, the comparison group consists of 18 freshmen (8.18%), 37 sophomores (16.8%), 79 juniors (35.9%) and 86 seniors (39.0%; see Table 3). Regarding race/ethnicity, there were 190 White participants (66.4%), 34 Hispanic/Latinx (11.9%), four Black or African American (1.4%), six Native American or American Indian (2.1%), 17 Asian or Pacific Islander (5.9%), 23 multiracial (8.0%), and 4 participants marked "Other" (1.4%) in the experimental group. The control group race and ethnicity distribution included 123 White participants (51.9%), 41 Hispanic/Latinx (17.3%), 52 Black or African American (21.9%), six Native American or American Indian (2.5%), 11 Asian or Pacific Islander (4.6%) and four participants multiracial (1.7%) and zero marked "Other" (see Table 4).

Table 1

Age Demographic Data for Intervention and Comparison Group

Age (years)						
	14	15	16	17	18	Total
Intervention <i>n</i>	35	75	85	68	24	287
Control <i>n</i>	9	8	65	76	62	220

Table 2

Gender Demographic Data for Intervention and Comparison Group

	Gender				
	Male	Female	Transgender	Total	
Intervention	84	196	2	282	
Control	47	162	11	220	

Table 3

Year in School Demographic Data for Intervention and Comparison Group

Year in School

	Freshmen	Sophomore	Junior	Senior	Total
Intervention	36	85	88	73	282
Control	18	37	79	86	220

Table 4

Race and Ethnicity Demographic Data for Intervention and Comparison Group

Race/Ethnicity								
	White	Hispanic/ Latinx	Black or African	Native American Indian	Asian. Pacific Islander	Multiracial	Other	Total
Intervention	190	34	4	6	17	23	4	278
Control	123	41	52	6	11	4	0	220

Materials

Pre-test data were collected using a self-report 10-item survey based on a five-item Likert scale where 1 is *strongly disagree*, 3 is *neutral*, and 5 is *strongly agree*. The survey was designed to determine student's competence and confidence in ability to respond to a peer in an emotional crisis or experiencing suicidal ideation before and after E-CPR training. The survey consisted of sentence statements (e.g., "I understand the frequency of emotional health concerns for adolescents"; "I can identify warning signs that a peer is having an emotional health crisis"). The survey took approximately 10 minutes to complete. The same survey was used in the post-test; however, two additional questions were added to the post-test, including "I have previously helped support a peer with an emotional health crisis," and "Based on the information I learned today, I will change how I support my peers moving forward." The same pre-test questions were

given to the control group aside from the last question which referred to attending the E-CPR training.

Items were combined to form three variables of interest: confidence (items two–four), competence (items five & six), and comfort accessing an adult or resource (item seven).

Procedure

The following study was approved by the Human Subjects Research Committee at George Fox University, including an archival experimental group and a newly collected comparison group. Archival experimental data were collected during an E-CPR training session presentation to the Oregon Association of Student Councils Leadership Conference. The comparison group was recruited through Qualtrics online survey platform. This service allowed the researcher to distribute surveys to a specific group of respondents. The author of this study requested that the sample be representative of the US Census data for Oregon in terms of gender, racial/ ethnic distribution and that participants be currently in high school and between 14–18 years of age. Two checks were embedded in the online survey to ensure participants were the correct age and currently enrolled in high school. Responses from participants who passed both checks were considered valid.

In the initial procedure, E-CPR began with a brief check-in and informed consent assessing students' understanding of the training they were attending. Informed consent also included acknowledging the presenter and moderators' credentials as trained mental health professionals, and encouraging participants to check in with the presenter or moderator if feeling distressed during E-CPR training. Before and after the training, survey participation was optional. The presenter gave participants approximately 10 minutes to complete the pre-test. Upon completion of E-CPR, students were given approximately 10 minutes to complete the posttest.

Participants in the control group were asked to complete a brief survey that would take less than 10 minutes to complete. Parental consent and adolescent assent were obtained before the participants accessed the survey. Participants were informed that they were participating in research on adolescents and helping a peer through an emotional crisis and asked to answer questions as honestly as they could. Compensation was provided based on the agreement between each participant and Qulatrics. There was no missing data.

Chapter 3

Results

Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive statistics for the measures included in this study can be found in Tables 5 and 6. These measures consists of score means, standard deviations, and skewness and kurtosis found using the Shapiro–Wilk test of Normality for both the intervention and control group.

Table 5

Descriptive statistics

Variables		Ν	М	Shapiro-Wilk P value (Normality)
Confidence	Experimental Pre-test	283	11.30	<.001
	Experimental Post-test	284	13.49	<.001
	Comparison Group	220	12.52	<.001
Competence	Experimental Pre-test	283	6.84	<.001

	Experimental Post-test	282	8.55	<.001
	Comparison Group	220	7.98	<.001
	Experimental Pre-test	284	3.79	<.001
Resource Seeking	Experimental Post-test	283	4.33	<.001
-	Comparison Group	220	3.87	<.001

Hypothesis 1- Participant Confidence Pre- to Post-Intervention

A Wilcoxon Signed-Rank test was used to compare pre-test to post-test scores for the intervention group in each of the score domains (confidence, competence, and comfort accessing an adult or resource). There was a significant difference between pre-test confidence scores (Mdn = 3.82, n = 281) and post-test confidence scores (Mdn = 4.54, n = 281; Z = 13.50, p < .001), with a moderate effect size, r = .56. Such results indicate that attending E-CPR caused an increase in participant's likelihood to endorse confidence in ability to respond to a peer in crisis (see Table 6).

Table 6

Confidence in Ability to Respond Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test Results

Intervention Group	Ν	М	Ζ	Р
Pre-test	283	3.82	13.497	.000
Post- test	284	4.54	13.497	.000

Hypothesis 2- Participant Competence Pre- to Post-Intervention

There was also a significant difference between pre-test competence scores (Mdn = 3.42, n = 281) and post-test confidence scores (Mdn = 4.27, n = 281; Z = 12.07, p < .001), with a

moderate effect size, r = .5. As such, attending E-CPR increased participant likelihood to endorse adequate crisis intervention skills (see Table 7).

Table 7

Competence in Adequate Crisis Intervention Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test Results

Intervention Group	Ν	М	Ζ	Р
Pre-test	283	3.42	12.07	.000
Post- test	282	4.27	12.07	.000

Hypothesis 3- Participant Resource-Seeking Pre- to Post-Intervention

The final hypothesis for the intervention group included whether or not attending E-CPR would increase resource-seeking for peers who are struggling. Results indicated that there was also a significant difference between pre-test comfort scores (Mdn = 3.79, n = 283) and post-test comfort scores (Mdn = 4.33, n = 283; Z = 7.77, p < .001), with a low effect size, r = .3. These findings suggest that attending the intervention increased resource-seeking comfort (see Table 8).

Table 8

Resource-Seeking Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test Results

Intervention Group	Ν	М	Ζ	Р
Pre-test	284	3.79	7.77	.000
Post- test	283	4.33	7.77	.000

Hypothesis 4- Intervention Group vs. Controls

Mann-Whitney U Test

In order to compare the pre-test score of the intervention group with that of the control group and to assess the effectiveness of E-CPR for a general high school population in improving adolescent confidence in ability to respond to a peer in crisis, endorse adequate crisis

intervention skills and to endorse comfort accessing and adult or resource, a Mann-Whitney U test was utilized. Compared to the control group, youth who received E-CPR training were not found to differ significantly in confidence in their ability to respond to a peer in crisis (control Mdn = 3.82, intervention Mdn = 3.85; U (Intervention = 283, Control = 220) = 31684, z = 0.346, p = .729).

Table 9

Confidence in Ability to Respond Mann-Whitney U Test Results

	Ν	М	U test Statistic	Ζ	Р
Intervention	283	3.82	31684	0.346	.729
Control	220	3.85	31684	0.345	.729

Regarding perceived competence in adequate crisis intervention response, a significant difference was found between the intervention group (Mdn = 3.42) and the control group (Mdn = 3.62; U ($N_{\text{Intervention}} = 281$, $N_{\text{Control}} = 220$) = 34841, z = 2.48, p < .013). The intervention group of student leaders scored significantly higher on perceived competence than the general high school population.

Table 10

Competence in Adequate Crisis Intervention Mann-Whitney U Test Results

	Ν	М	U test Statistic	Ζ	Р
Intervention	281	3.42	34841	2.48	.013
Control	220	3.62	34841	2.48	.013

Finally, regarding comfort accessing an adult or resource, a significant difference was found between the intervention group (Mdn = 3.79) and the control group (Mdn = 3.26; U ($N_{\text{Intervention}} = 284$, $N_{\text{Control}} = 220$) = 23616, z = -4.85, p < .001). The intervention group of student

leaders scored significantly higher on comfort accessing an adult or resource than the general high school population.

Table 11

Resource-Seeking Mann-Whitney U Test Results

	Ν	М	U test Statistic	Ζ	Р
Intervention	284	3.79	23616	-4.85	0
Control	220	3.26	23616	-4.85	0

Chapter 4

Discussion

The purpose of the following study is to examine the use of a universal school-based crisis intervention and suicide prevention program for adolescents (E-CPR) as an intervention to improve peer support towards adolescents experiencing an emotional health crisis and at risk for suicide. Given that suicide remains the second leading cause of death among young people ages 10–24 years (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017; Curtin & Heron, 2019), there is a crucial need to address suicidality among young people and to address the emotional and behavioral signs of a crisis. Research suggests that when seeking out support, adolescents prefer turning to friends for help, however, youth peers are often ill-equipped to recognize or provide adequate support for a friend in a mental health crisis. Youth report several barriers around competence of mental and emotional crisis and lack of confidence around approaching a school adult or professional resource (Michelmore & Hindley, 2012; Radez, 2020; Stuckey et al., 2021).

As a population-based health issue, the broadest and most effective dissemination of this preparedness training is likely through universal school-based programming (Loon et al., 2020;

Miller et al., 2009; Wilcox & Wyman, 2016). Research suggests that effective school-based programming not only addresses knowledge around suicide intervention, but also teaches peer responses and problem-solving skills (Miller et al., 2010; O'Connor, 2018; Posamentier et al., 2022) including the following components: (a) aims of raising awareness of suicide intervention (including pertinent demographics, information about suicide, dispelling common myths, various risk factors that increase the likelihood of suicide, warning signs, and protective factors that decrease the probability of suicidal behaviors (Hart et. al, 2019; Miller et al., 2010), (b) teaching appropriate peer responses and problem-solving skills, and (c) promoting social and school connectedness, providing information to students about school and community resources for getting help (Miller et al., 2010; O'Connor et al., 2018; Posamentier et al., 2022. Programs are also more likely to be successful at increasing students' help-seeking behavior for themselves or others if they include these attitudinal components, promoting engagement with professional treatment, suitable options for self-help, and an awareness of where to go for resources (Hart et al., 2016; Posamentier et al., 2022.

The current study sought to explore the effectiveness of E-CPR, a 90-minute universal school-based suicide intervention workshop that aims to improve confidence in ability to respond to a peer in crisis (confidence), ability to identify adequate crisis intervention responses (competence), and increasing comfort accessing an adult or other appropriate resource for peers who are struggling (resource-seeking). E-CPR includes essential components such as teaching appropriate peer responses and problem-solving skills. Evidence suggest that successful programs provide youth with the skills to take specific actions in responding to the signs of suicide or crisis once recognized (King & Fazel, 2021; Miller et al., 2010; O'Connor, 2018). E-CPR includes case scenarios, discusses active listening skills, and teaches strategies for

expanding dialogue versus asking leading questions. In addition, E-CPR prepares adolescents to respond to hesitance or resistance in peers that are struggling and promotes emotional health problem solving skills. E-CPR not only includes information around role and responsibility for youth when supporting a peer in crisis, but also includes specific information around partnering with an adult. Specifically, E-CPR addresses use of a trusted school official, parent, crisis line, medical professional or other mental-health-based resource.

It was hypothesized that confidence, competence, and resource-seeking scores would improve after intervention. Further, it was hypothesized that the intervention group (student council leaders) would be representative of the general high school population on preintervention scores, not demonstrating significantly different scores than the control group on confidence, competence, or resource-seeking. Results indicated that the intervention group scores on confidence, competence, and resource-seeking were significantly improved preintervention to post-intervention, suggesting that E-CPR is an effective intervention in improving student leader outcomes on these variables. This finding is commensurate with research on other universal school-based programs (Hart et. al, 2019; Miller et al., 2010; O'Connor et al., 2018; Posamentier et al., 2022. In this way, E-CPR appears to be effective in its aims of improving student leader confidence in their ability to respond to a peer in crisis, increasing student leader ability to endorse adequate crisis intervention responses, and enhancing their comfort accessing an adult or resource for peers who are struggling.

After the intervention was successful for student council leaders, pre-intervention scores were collected from general high school students as well in order to better understand how the intervention may generalize to the general high school population, a more universal application.

Results indicated that the student council leaders performed commensurately with a general high school population on confidence in their ability to respond to a peer in crisis. However, the student leaders in this study's intervention group had significantly increased competence (ability to endorse adequate crisis intervention responses) at the outset, and significantly increased resource-seeking comfort at the outset. After completing E-CPR, the student leaders improved in both of those arenas, but because their pre-intervention scores differed on these domains, some considerations may need to be made to ensure that the E-CPR intervention is appropriately suited to a more universal general high school population.

Several factors could contribute to these pre-intervention score differences between student leaders and a general high school population. Participation in student councils or leadership position have been found to have positive benefits to students including increasing life skills such as communication, problem solving, improving peer relationships and student-adult relationships (Griebler, 2017). Thus, the impacts of participating in student council may be contributing to the initial competence and comfort seeking resources the student leaders endorsed compared to the general high school population. Further, student leaders are likely to have had extensive practice with multiple skills that are applicable when assisting a peer in an emotional health crisis, but may not yet be aware of their competence in these skills. As such, it is possible that the student leader's unconscious competence with these skills caused them to endorse a comparable level of confidence to a general high school population when it comes to assisting a peer with an emotional health crisis. Another hypothesis is a selection bias for students who are elected into student leadership positions. It is possible that students elected into leadership have greater competence and resource-seeking skills even prior to engagement as a student leader, with greater competence and resource-seeking skills perhaps even being reasons they were

elected. More research exploring characteristics of students leaders could assist in this clarification.

Limitations and Future Research

When looking at these results, it is important to take into consideration the limitations of the study. More robust studies around E-CPR are needed and should be considered in future research. In this study, intervention group data was gathered form a group of high school student leaders living in the Pacific Northwest. For generalizability to a more universal high-school population, more exploration should be done to assess the effectiveness of E-CPR in a general high school population. As noted above, more research exploring characteristics of student's leaders could assist in clarifying intervention impact differences between student leaders and a general high school population. Further future studies should also consider adding a follow-up data collection stage to explore what improvements were retained. Another step in intervention development would be exploring implementation by high school staff or teachers. Finally, outcome measures outside of self-report measures could be explored to determine broader impacts of the intervention (e.g., do rates of peer-support instances increase?).

Conclusion

E-CPR is an effective intervention to improve student-leader support towards peers experiencing emotional health crisis including suicide risk. E-CPR has been found to promote confidence in ability to respond to a peer in crisis, use of adequate crisis intervention skills and increases youth comfort accessing and adult or resource for peers who are struggling. However, compared to the general high-school student control group, the intervention group of student leaders in this study had increased competence and resource-seeking comfort at the outset, but similar confidence ratings. Future studies are required to explore generalizability to a more universal high-school population, including implementation by high school teachers or staff. Future studies are also required to ascertain whether these increases are indeed associated with better provision of support and prevention of youth suicide.

References

Aseltine, R. H. & DeMartino, R. (2004). An outcome evaluation of the SOS Suicide Prevention Program. *American Journal of Public Health* 94(3), 446–451.

https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.94.3.446

- Batterham, P. J., Calear, A.L., & Christensen, H. (2012). The Stigma of Suicide Scale. *Crisis: The Journal of Crisis Intervention and Suicide Prevention*, 34(1), 13–21. https://doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000156
- Berman, A. L. (2009). School-based suicide prevention: research advances and practice implications. *School Psychology Review*, *38*(2), 233–238.

https://doi.org/10.1080/02796015.2009.12087834

- Berman, A. L., Jobes, D. A., & Silverman, M. M. (2006). Adolescent suicide: Assessment and intervention (2nd Ed.). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/11285-000
- Burke, T. A., Connolly, S. L., Hamilton, J. L., Stange, J. P., Abramson, L. Y., & Alloy, L. B. (2015). Cognitive risk and protective factors for suicidal ideation: A two year longitudinal study in adolescence. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 44(6), 1145–1160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-015-0104-x
- Calear, A. L., Batterham, P. J., & Christensen, H. (2014). Predictors of help-seeking for suicidal ideation in the community: Risks and opportunities for public suicide prevention campaigns. *Psychiatry Research*, 219(3), 525–530.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2014.06.027

Capuzzi, D. (1994). Suicide prevention in the schools: Guidelines for middle and high school settings. Alexandria, VA: American Counseling Association.

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017). Web-based injury statistics query and reporting system, (Fatal Injury Reports, 1999–2015, for National, Regional, and States).
 National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. <u>http://webappa.cdc.gov/cgibin/broker.exe</u>.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021). Web-based injury statistics query and reporting system, (Fatal Injury Reports, 2010–2019, for National, Regional, and States).
 National Center for Injury Prevention and Control.

http://www.cdc.gov/injury/wisqars/index.htm

- Center for Mental Health Services, issuing body. (2015). *Preventing suicide: A toolkit for high schools*. Center for Mental Health Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration
- Cigularov, K., Chen, P. Y., Thurber, B. W., & Stallones, L. (2008). What prevents adolescents from seeking help after a suicide education program? *Suicide & Life-Threatening Behavior*, 38(1), 74–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1521/suli.2008.38.1.74</u>
- Curtin, S.C., Heron, M (2019) *Death rates due to suicide and homicide among persons age 10-24:* United States 2000-2017(NCHS Data Brief NO. 352) National Center for Health Statistics
- Cusimano, M. D., & Sameem, M. (2011). The effectiveness of middle and high school-based suicide prevention programs for adolescents: a systematic review. *Injury Prevention*, 17(1), 43–49. https://doi.org/10.1136/ip.2009.025502
- Drapeau, C. W., & McIntosh, J. L. (2018). U.S.A. suicide 2017: Official final data. Education Faculty Publications. <u>https://scholar.valpo.edu/ed_fac_pubs/40</u>

- Griebler, U., Rojatz, D., Simovska, V., & Forster, R. (2017). Effects of student participation in school health promotion: a systematic review. *Health promotion international*, 32(2), 195-206.
- Hart, L. M., Cropper, P., Morgan, A. J., Kelly, C. M., & Jorm, A. F. (2019). Teen Mental Health First Aid as a school-based intervention for improving peer support of adolescents at risk of suicide: Outcomes from a cluster randomized crossover trial. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 54(4), 382-392.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0004867419885450

- Hart, L. M., Mason, R. J., Kelly, C. M., Cvetkovski, S., & Jorm, A. F. (2016). Teen Mental Health First Aid: A description of the program and an initial evaluation. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, *10*(1), 3–3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13033-016-0034-1
- Holland, K. M., Vivolo-Kantor, A. M., Logan, J. E., & Leemis, R. W. (2016). Antecedents of suicide among youth aged 11–15: A multistate mixed methods analysis. *Journal of Youth* and Adolescence, 46(7), 1598–1610. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-016-0610-3</u>
- Joiner, T. E., Van Orden, K. A., Witte, T. K., & Rudd, M. D. (2009). The Interpersonal Theory of Suicide: Guidance for working with suicidal clients. American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/11869-000

Jorm, A.F., Barney, L. J., Christensen, H., Highet, N. J., Kelly, C. M., & Kitchener, B. A. (2016). Research on mental health literacy: What we know and what we still need to know. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 40(1), 3–5. https://doi.org/10.1080/j.1440-1614.2006.01734.x

- Joshi, S. V., M. D., Hartley, S. N., B. A., Kessler, Moira, M. D., & Barstead, M. (2015). Schoolbased suicide prevention. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 24(2), 353–370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chc.2014.12.003
- Kalafat, J., & Elias, M. (1994). An evaluation of a school-based suicide awareness intervention. *Suicide & Life-Threatening Behavior*, 24(3), 224–233. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1943-278X.1994.tb00747.x
- Kalkbrenner, M.T. & Goodman-Scott, E. (2021). Peer-to-peer mental health support: Validating scores on the mental distress response scale with high school students. *Professional School Counseling*, 25(1), 2156759. https://doi.org/10.1177/2156759X211006631
- King, T. & Fazel, M. (2021). Examining the mental health outcomes of school-based peer-led interventions on young people: A scoping review of range and a systematic review of effectiveness. *PlOS One*, *16*(4), e0249553–e0249553. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0249553
- Klimes-Dougan, B., Klingbeil, D. A., & Meller, S. J. (2012). The impact of universal suicide-prevention programs on the help-seeking attitudes and behaviors of youths. *Crisis: The Journal of Crisis Intervention and Suicide Prevention*, *34*(2), 82–97. https://doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000178
- Labuhn, M., LaBore, K., Ahmed, T., & Ahmed, R. (2021). Trends and instigators among young adolescent suicide in the United States. *Public Health*, 199, 51–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2021.08.004
- Loon, A.W., Creemers, H.E., Beumer, Y.W., Okorn, A., Vogelaar, S., Saab, N., Miers, A.C., Westenberg, P. M., & Asscher, J.J. (2020). Can schools reduce adolescent psychological stress? A multilevel meta-analysis of the effectiveness of school-based intervention

programs. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 49*(6), 1127–1145. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-020-01201-5

- Mason, R. J., Hart, L. M., Rossetto, A., & Jorm, A.F. (2015). Quality and predictors of adolescents' first aid intentions and actions towards a peer with a mental health problem. *Psychiatry Research*, 228(1), 31–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2015.03.036
- Michelmore, L., & Hindley, P. (2012). Help-seeking for suicidal thoughts and self-harm in young people: A systematic review. *Suicide & Life-Threatening Behavior*, 42(5), 507– 524. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1943-278x.2012.00108.x
- Miller, D. N., Eckert, T. L., & Mazza, J. J. (2009). Suicide prevention programs in the schools: A review and public health perspective. *School Psychology Review*, *38*(2), 168–188.
- Miller, D., Miller, D.N., & Berman, A. L. (2010). *Child and adolescent suicidal behavior: School-based prevention, assessment and intervention.* Guilford Publications
- O'Connor, C. A., Dyson, J., Cowdell, F., & Watson, R. (2018). Do universal school-based mental health promotion programs improve the mental health and emotional wellbeing of young people? A literature review. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 27(3–4), e412–e426. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14078
- Olsson, D. P., & Kennedy, M. G. (2010). Mental health literacy among young people in a small US town: Recognition of disorders and hypothetical helping responses. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, 4(4), 291–298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-7893.2010.00196.x</u>
- Patafio, B., Miller, P., Baldwin, R., Taylor, N., & Hyder, S. (2021). A systematic mapping review of interventions to improve adolescent mental health literacy, attitudes and

behaviours. Early Intervention in Psychiatry, 15(6), 1470–1501.

https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.13109

- Posamentier, K., Seibel, K., & DyTang, N. (2022). Preventing youth suicide: A review of school-based practices and how social–emotional learning fits into comprehensive efforts. *Trauma, Violence & Abuse*, 15248380211039475–15248380211039475. https://doi.org/10.1177/15248380211039475
- Price, J., & Khubchandani, J. (2021). Childhood suicide trends in the United States, 2010–2019. Journal of Community Health, 47(2), 232–236. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900-021-01040-w
- Radez, J., Reardon, T., Creswell, C., Lawrence, P. J., Evdoka-Burton, G., & Waite, P. (2020).
 Why do children and adolescents (not) seek and access professional help for their mental health problems? A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative studies. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-019-01469-4
- Robinson, J., Cox, G., Malone, A., Williamson, M., Baldwin, G., Fletcher, K., & O'Brien, M. (2012). A systematic review of school-based interventions aimed at preventing, treating, and responding to suicide-related behavior in young people. *Crisis: The Journal of Crisis Intervention and Suicide Prevention*, *34*(3), 164–182. https://doi.org/10.1027/0227-5910/a000168
- Singer, J. B, Erbacher, T. A., & Rosen, P. (2018). School-based suicide prevention: A framework for evidence-based practice. *School Mental Health*, 11(1), 54–71. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-018-9245-8
- Stuckey,H., Hivner, E. A., Kraschnewski, J. L., Molinari, A. M., Costigan, H. J., & Sekhar, D. L. (2021). "I wouldn't even know what to do," adolescent and parent perspectives on

identifying, understanding, and seeking help for adolescent depression. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 92(4), 1459–1472. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11126-021-09918-7

- Van Orden, K. A., Witte, T. K., Cukrowicz, K. C., Braithwaite, S. R., Selby, E. A., & Joiner, T. E. (2010). The interpersonal theory of suicide. *Psychological Review*, *117*(2), 575–600. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018697
- Wasserman, D., Hoven, C. W., Wasserman, C., Wall, M., Eisenberg, R., Hadlaczky, G. K., Ian,
 S., Marco, A., Alan, B., Judit, B., Julio, B., Romuald, C., Paul, C., Doina, G., Haring, C.,
 Iosue, M., Kaess, M., Kahn, J.P., ... Carli, V. (2015). School-based suicide prevention
 programs: the SEYLE cluster-randomized, controlled trial. *The Lancet (British Edition)*, 385(9977), 1536–1544. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736 (14)61213-7
- Wilcox, H. C., & Wyman, P. A. (2016). Suicide prevention strategies for improving population health. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 25(2), 219–233. doi:10.1016/j.chc.2015.12.003

Appendix A

Pre-Test

Pre-Assessment			Personal Identifier:		
1.	l understand the frequency of health concerns for adolescer				
	1 Strongly Disagree	2	3 Neutral	4	5 Strongly Agree
2.	I can identify warning signs th having an emotional health ci				
	1 Strongly Disagree	2	3 Neutral	4	5 Strongly Agree
3.	I feel I can partner and be an a someone who is having emot concerns.	•			
	1 Strongly Disagree	2	3 Neutral	4	5 Strongly Agree
4.	I am familiar with resources t help support myself or others emotional health concerns.				
	1 Strongly Disagree	2	3 Neutral	4	5 Strongly Agree
5.	I know how to connect with s who is expressing emotional l concerns.				
	1 Strongly Disagree	2	3 Neutral	4	5 Strongly Agree
6.	I know how to respond to a p having an emotional health <u>cr</u>				
	1 Strongly Disagree	2	3 Neutral	4	5 Strongly Agree
7.	I feel comfortable accessing a resource if I am aware that a struggling.				
	1 Strongly Disagree	2	3 Neutral	4	5 Strongly Agree
8.	Talking or asking about suicid someone to attempt to harm themselves.				
	1 Strongly Disagree	2	3 Neutral	4	5 Strongly Agree

About me:

Identified Gen	<u>der:</u>	<u>Ethnicity</u>
🗌 Male	Female Transgender	European American/White
Age:		 Hispanic/Latino Black or African American
Year in School	<u>.</u>	Native American or American Indian
🗌 Freshman		 Asian/Pacific islander Other
	Senior	

Appendix B

Post Test

•			Perso	onal Ide	ntifier:	
POS	st-Assessment				our first identifier!	
1.	I understand the frequency of	of emotional	health concerns	for adolesc	ents.	
	1	2	3	4	5	
	Strongly Disagree		Neutral		Strongly Agree	
2.	I can identify warning signs t	hat a peer is	having an emoti	onal health	crisis.	
	1	2	3	4	5	
	Strongly Disagree		Neutral		Strongly Agree	
3.	I feel I can partner and be an	ally for som	eone who is havi	ng emotior	nal health concerns.	
	1	2	3	4	5	
	Strongly Disagree		Neutral		Strongly Agree	
4.	I am familiar with resources	that can hel	p support myself	or others fo	or emotional health co	oncerns.
	1	2	3	4	5	
	Strongly Disagree		Neutral		Strongly Agree	
5.	I know how to connect with	someone wł	no is expressing e	motional h	ealth concerns.	
	1	2	3	4	5	
	Strongly Disagree		Neutral		Strongly Agree	
6.	I know how to respond to a	peer who is l	having an emotio	nal health <u>(</u>	<u>crisis</u> .	
	1	2	3	4	5	
	Strongly Disagree		Neutral		Strongly Agree	
7.	I feel comfortable accessing	an adult or r	esource if I am av	ware that a	peer is struggling.	
	1	2	3	4	5	
	Strongly Disagree		Neutral		Strongly Agree	
8.	Talking or asking about suici	de will cause	e someone to atte	empt to har	m themselves.	
	1	2	3	4	5	
	Strongly Disagree		Neutral		Strongly Agree	
9.	I have previously helped sup	port a peer v	with an emotiona	l health cri	sis.	
	1	2	3	4	5	
	Strongly Disagree		Neutral		Strongly Agree	
10	. Based on the information I le	earned today	y, I will change ho	w I suppor	t my peers moving for	ward.
	1	2	3	4	5	
	Strongly Disagree		Neutral		Strongly Agree	

On the back, please include any comments or information that you feel would be helpful to include in the presentation moving forward. Thank you!

Appendix C

Parental Consent

Dear Parent/ Guardian,

Your student has been invited to participate in a research study examining teen's confidence in ability to respond to a peer in an emotional crisis. The decision if your child participates in this study is up to you.

In this research study, we are investigating the outcomes of a peer crisis response training. If you say yes to this form, your student will be asked to complete a brief survey that should take less than 10 minutes to complete. Your student also will be asked if they want to participate and answer the questions before they survey is administered. For the survey, they will be asked questions around how confident they feel in their ability to help someone in an emotional health crisis. Previous research suggests that asking students questions like this rarely makes students feel upset or distressed. Further, most students report they like supporting projects that help others in the community.

It is important to know that your student's name or any identifying information will not be included in the survey. Instead survey results will be given a de-identified number to use instead of your student's name. All answers your child gives to the researchers will be kept private. The information from this survey will be used as a comparison to those gathered from a peer emotional crisis response training. All data will be put together so that it will be impossible in any reports or paper to tell what individual students said on the surveys.

Participation in this study is voluntary. You and your student have the right to not participate at all and to withdraw their permission at any time.

If you have any further questions about the study, email Elisabeth Wise at ewise18@georgefox.edu

My child has permission to participate

Yes	
No	

Appendix D

Student Assent

Dear Student,

You are being invited to participate in a research study examining teen's confidence in ability to respond to a peer in an emotional crisis. The decision to participate in this study is up to you.

In this research study, we are investigating the outcomes of a peer crisis response training. If you say yes to this form, you will be asked to complete a brief survey that should take less than 10 minutes to complete. For the survey, you will be asked questions around how confident you feel in your ability to help someone in an emotional health crisis. Asking you these questions should not cause you to experience any distress or to feel upset. Further, by answering these questions you are helping us understand how to support others teens just like you.

It is important to know that we are not going to ask you for your name or any identifying information. Instead survey results will be given a de-identified number to use instead of your name. All answers you give to the researchers will be kept private. The information from the survey you fill out will be used as a comparison to those gathered from a peer emotional crisis response training. All data will be put together so that it will be impossible in any reports or paper to tell what individuals said on the survey.

Participation in this study is voluntary. You have the right to not participate at all and to withdraw their permission at any time.

If you have any further questions about the study, email Elisabeth Wise at ewise18@georgefox.edu

I want to participate

Yes	
No	

My parents are aware that I am participating in filling out this survey

Yes	
No	